IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

GREAT AMERICAN E&S INSURANCE COMPANY

Plaintiff – Appellant

VS.

Supreme Court No. 2009-CA-01063

Warren County Circuit Court No. 06-0231-CI

ROYAL INDEMNITY COMPANY, individually, and in its capacity as successor in interest to ROYAL INSURANCE COMPANY OF AMERICA, QUINTAIROS, PRIETO, WOOD & BOYER, P.A. and JOHN DOES 1-25

Defendant - Appellees

BRIEF OF GREAT AMERICAN E&S INSURANCE COMPANY <u>PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT</u>

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case

2.1 This case involves claims by Plaintiff/Appellant Great American E&S Insurance Company ("Great American"), an excess insurance carrier, which was forced to expend significant sums of money due to the actions of attorneys in the defense of a series of nursing home liability cases filed in the Circuit Court of Warren County, Mississippi (the underlying cases are referred to herein as "the Vicksburg litigation"). This case addresses the relationships between a primary insurance carrier, an excess insurance carrier, the named insured and the attorneys hired to defend the named insured.

2.2 Royal Indemnity Company ("Royal") issued the primary policy and named as insureds the owners and/or operators of Shady Lawn Nursing Home and Vicksburg Convalescent Home (the nursing homes are hereinafter collectively referred to as the "nursing home insureds"). (R.E. 4, Amended Complaint, at \P 3.1).¹ Great American provided excess insurance coverage for the nursing home insureds for losses that exceeded \$1 million. (<u>Id</u>.).

2.3 Royal, as the primary insurance carrier, retained Quintairos, Prieto, Wood & Boyer, P.A. ("the Quintairos Firm" or "Quintairos") to defend the nursing home insureds in the Vicksburg litigation cases. (Id. at ¶¶ 3.16-3.19). Royal continued to employ the Quintairos Firm to defend the Vicksburg litigation after Royal became aware the Quintairos Firm could not adequately defend the cases. (Id. at ¶ 3.19). In turn, the Quintairos Firm committed numerous errors and omissions while defending these cases (e.g., failing to timely designate experts), ultimately rendering the cases nearly untriable so that exorbitant settlements were required. (Id. at ¶ 3.16-3.19). The actions taken by Royal and Quintairos were either negligent or with reckless disregard of the rights of Great American and/or the nursing home insureds.

¹ Cites to the Record Excerpts appear herein as "(R.E. ____)." Cites to paragraphs within a record excerpt are denoted with "¶____."

2.4 Because of their respective actions in mishandling the defense of the Vicksburg litigation, Great American has asserted claims against both Royal and the Quintairos Firm. Pertinent to this appeal, Great American has asserted direct claims against the Quintairos Firm for legal malpractice, negligence, gross negligence, negligent misrepresentation, and negligent supervision. (Id. at ¶¶ 4.6-4.37). In addition, Great American has pleaded an alternate theory of recovery against Quintairos based on equitable subrogation. (Id. at ¶¶ 4.1-4.5).

B. Course of Proceedings and Disposition in the Court Below

2.5 Great American originally commenced this action against Royal in the Circuit Court of Warren County, Mississippi, on November 15, 2006. (R. 5, Original Complaint).² Thereafter, on March 12, 2007, Great American amended its Complaint to add the Quintairos Firm as a Defendant and to correct Defendant Royal's proper name. (R.E. 4, Amended Complaint). On April 12, 2007, the Quintairos Firm dilatorily removed the case to the United States District Court for the Southern District of Mississippi solely based on a scrivener's error in the Amended Complaint, which listed Great American's proper name as "Great American E&S Insurance Services, Inc." rather than "Great American E&S Services Company." (R. 69-77). After briefing by both parties was had, the federal district court remanded the case back to state court on November 16, 2007. (R. 77).

2.6 The case progressed with discovery and the filing of an Agreed Scheduling Order and Trial Setting on May 15, 2008. (R. 84). On June 13, 2008, however, the Quintairos Firm again delayed matters by filing a Motion for Recusal which primarily focused on the trial judge having also been assigned the underlying cases in the Vicksburg litigation. (R. 86-89). The Quintairos Firm argued that because the case at bar involves, in part, claims for legal malpractice which occurred in the Vicksburg litigation, the trial judge could potentially be called as a fact

² Cites to the Record appear herein as "(R. ____)."

witness. (<u>Id</u>.). Quintairos also called into question the judge's impartiality by voicing concern that the judge "may have preconceived opinions about the firm" because, in the Vicksburg litigation, the judge found a member of the Quintairos Firm who was not licensed in the state of Mississippi to have engaged in the unlawful practice of law.³ (<u>Id</u>. at 89). The trial judge properly denied this Motion by Order of the Court on August 18, 2008, finding no evidence existed which would cause a reasonable person to harbor doubt concerning his impartiality. (R. 107-110).

2.7 On September 2, 2008, the Quintairos Firm filed its Motion to Dismiss for failure to state a claim upon which relief could be granted. (R.111-12). The trial court granted Quintairos's Motion to Dismiss on June 1, 2009. (R.E. 2 and 3). Great American now appeals the trial court's dismissal of the Quintairos Firm from this lawsuit.

C. Statement of the Facts

2.8 Although numerous underlying cases predicate this lawsuit, Great American specifically references four grossly mishandled cases in its Complaint.⁴ (R.E. 4, Amended Complaint,⁵ at ¶¶ 3.3-3.19).⁶ As noted previously, these underlying lawsuits are often referenced as "Vicksburg litigation." This lawsuit against the Quintairos Firm follows its reckless mishandling of these cases. (R.E. 4 at ¶¶ 3.16-3.19). As it relates specifically to the Vicksburg litigation, the nursing home insureds, Royal and Great American were the parties with a direct

³ The Court referred said individual to the Disciplinary Tribunal of the Mississippi Bar on December 1, 2004. (R. 89)

⁴ The four cases referenced herein are more fully explained in Plaintiff Great American's Complaint and are styled (1) <u>The Estate of Huldah Chase, et al. v. International Healthcare Properties, et al.</u>, Civil Action Number 02-0133CI; (2) <u>Alma Taylor, et al. v. Vicksburg Convalescent Home, et al.</u>, Civil Action No. 02-0214 CI; (3) <u>The Estate of Nancy Jones and Brenda Jones, et al. v. International Health Care Properties 61, L.P.</u>, Civil Action No. 02-0197-CI; (4) <u>Hilliard Berry, Sr., et al. v. International Health Care Properties 61, L.P.</u>, In the Circuit Court of Warren County, Mississippi; Civil Action No. 02-0197-CI.

⁵ All citations in Great American's Statement of the Facts are made to allegations in the Amended Complaint. Since this case was dismissed on a Motion to Dismiss for failure to state a claim, all allegations must be accepted as true.

⁶ Cites to the Record Excerpts appear herein as "(R.E. ____)." Cites to paragraphs within a record excerpt are denoted with "¶__."

interest in the litigation. (Id. at $\P\P$ 3.1-5.1). All of these parties possessed aligned interests: prudent defense of the insureds. (Id. at $\P\P$ 3.1-3.4).

2.9 The nursing home insureds possessed two layers of liability insurance which provided them coverage for the Vicksburg litigation. (Id. at $\P\P$ 3.1-3.2). This coverage included primary insurance written by Royal and excess coverage written by Great American. (Id.). Royal's primary insurance policy provided the nursing home insureds with coverage in the amount of \$1 million per occurrence and \$3 million in the aggregate. (Id. at \P 3.1). Great American's excess policy provided the nursing home insureds with coverage of \$8 million per occurrence and \$16 million in the aggregate. (R.E. 4 at \P 3.2).

2.10 The excess policies issued by Great American did not attach and provide defense opportunity or obligations until after exhaustion of primary coverage. (Id. at ¶¶ 3.2, 3.4, 3.14, 3.16). In other words, as an excess policy, Great American's coverage was not implicated until the nursing home insureds faced a potential loss in excess of \$1 million.⁷ (Id.). As the primary insurance carrier, Royal had the duty to defend and control the Vicksburg litigation until primary coverage was exhausted. (Id.). While Great American had an interest in the litigation, it had no opportunity to control the defense until its coverage was implicated. (Id.). Accordingly, Royal hired defense counsel, the Quintairos Firm, to defend the nursing home insureds in the Vicksburg litigation. (R.E. 4 at ¶¶ 3.4, 3.6, 3.17). The Quintairos Firm defended the cases and reported to the nursing home insureds, Royal and Great American regarding the status of proceedings and projected potential exposure. (Id. at ¶¶ 3.5, 3.9, 3.14, 3.18, 4.21, 4.22, 4.26).

2.11 Soon after the first of the underlying cases commenced (<u>Chase</u>), the nursing home insureds began to express dissatisfaction with the Quintairos Firm's "defense." (<u>Id. at </u>¶ 3.10-

⁷ The excess coverage would also be implicated upon exhaustion of all primary coverage. Royal provided a total of \$3 million in primary coverage which, at exhaustion, would implicate Great American's excess policy as to all claims.

3.11). However, neither the nursing home insureds nor Royal communicated this fact to Great American at the time. One of the primary concerns was that none of the partners and/or trial attorneys at the Quintairos Firm was licensed to practice law in Mississippi. (Id. at ¶¶ 3.10 and 3.15). Royal nonetheless ignored these warnings, adamantly maintaining that Quintairos was their choice of defense counsel. (Id. at 3.11). As the underlying cases unfolded, Quintairos's inadequacies mounted, and it became readily apparent that Quintairos could not competently handle defense of the Vicksburg litigation. (R.E. 4 at ¶¶ 3.15 and 3.19).

2.12 Great American first learned of the problems with the Quintairos Firm in a litigation report from the firm involving the <u>Chase</u> case. (<u>Id</u>. at 3.14). In that report, Quintairos unexpectedly increased the projected exposure by approximately eight times the amount previously reported by the firm.⁸ (<u>Id</u>.). Prior to this unexpected increase, Royal's primary coverage was the only coverage implicated by the case. The Quintairos Firm's increase implicated Great American's coverage because it exceeded the \$1 million primary coverage provided by Royal.

2.13 One especially egregious and damaging event caused the increase by Quintairos. In <u>Chase</u>, a nursing home malpractice case, the Quintairos Firm failed to timely designate medical experts. Because the designations were untimely, they were stricken by the trial court, leaving the nursing home with no defense. Immediately and directly as a result, the settlement value of the <u>Chase</u> case soared. The best proof of this fact is the Quintairos Firm's litigation report referenced above, wherein the projected exposure increased eight times the amount previously reported. The Mississippi Supreme Court has instructed that "[a]n attorney who fails to designate an expert by a court-mandated deadline and does not provide any reason for doing

⁸ As noted in Great American's Amended Complaint, the Quintairos Firm previously opined the trial value of the case was \$500,000. The unexpected increase occurred after the trial court struck the late expert designations filed by Quintairos as described below. After the trial court struck the designations, the Quintairos firm increased the value to an amount between \$3 million and \$4 million.

so, is negligent as a matter of law[.]" <u>Byrd v. Bowie</u>, 933 So. 2d 899 (Miss. 2006). Accordingly, in the <u>Chase</u> case alone, the Quintairos Firm was, at a minimum, negligent as a matter of law.

2.14 To make matters worse, the Quintairos Firm failed to have any partners/trial attorneys admitted *pro hac vice* to try the <u>Chase</u> matter. With a verdict almost assured, the plaintiff's settlement offer grew substantially. Although the terms of the <u>Chase</u> settlement are confidential, it is abundantly clear that the settlement was far in excess of the Quintairos Firm's estimated value of the case, and the excessive settlement number resulted solely because of the Quintairos Firm's gross negligence in mishandling the defense of the suit. Even after <u>Chase</u>, however, Royal refused to terminate the Quintairos Firm as defense counsel. Ultimately, due to the Quintairos firm's failure to timely designate expert witnesses and other malpractice, the nursing home insureds, Royal, and Great American were damaged in the Vicksburg litigation.

2.15 As noted above, numerous lawsuits predicate this lawsuit, several of which are discussed in detail in Great American's Amended Complaint. The allegations concerning these cases must be taken as true at this stage in the proceedings and are incorporated herein by reference. The allegations in the Amended Complaint adequately placed all defendants on notice as to the nature and substance of the claims against them in this matter. Furthermore, these allegations state a claim against all defendants, including specifically the Quintairos Firm.

III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

3.1 Great American has properly stated several viable theories of recovery against the Quintairos Firm including claims for legal malpractice, negligence, gross negligence, negligent misrepresentation, and negligent supervision. In addition, Great American possesses—and has stated in its Amended Complaint—an equitable right of subrogation against the Quintairos Firm. Great American's equitable subrogation claim is viable because Great American was obligated to satisfy the damages caused by the Quintairos Firm's recklessness.

3.2 Each of the aforementioned causes of action stem from the Quintairos Firm's mishandling of numerous underlying cases which predicate this lawsuit. Specifically, Great American references four grossly mishandled cases in its Amended Complaint. As noted previously, these underlying lawsuits are often referenced as the "Vicksburg litigation." As it relates specifically to the Vicksburg litigation, the nursing home insureds, Royal, and Great American were all parties with a direct interest in the litigation. Importantly, all of these parties possessed aligned interests: prudent defense of the insureds.

3.3 The Quintairos Firm's gross negligence and reckless disregard for the rights of foresceable third parties in handling the Vicksburg litigation directly contributed to eventual settlement of the cases at amounts well in excess of the primary coverage. The Quintairos Firm repeatedly bungled expert designations in multiple cases, including a complete failure to timely designate in one case. These and other actions on the part of the Quintairos Firm, which will be unearthed and further developed through discovery, evince a level of egregiousness and wantonness as to constitute a separate, independent tort of their own.

3.4 In addition, the Quintairos Firm generated litigation reports which it sent directly to Great American. Great American justifiably and detrimentally relied upon these reports, which estimated exposure in each case at a level vastly below the primary coverage limits. Great American first learned of the Quintairos Firm's malpractice through one of the firm's reports. Great American also learned that the reports had consistently and calculatedly undervalued each of the underlying cases so as to intentionally avoid implicating Great American's excess coverage. As a result of these litigation reports, Great American was led to believe the Quintairos Firm was defending the underlying cases appropriately and that excess coverage was not implicated. Great American was justified in relying on these litigation reports, which the Quintairos Firm sent directly to Great American.

3.5 The Quintairos Firm contends that, to a certainty, Great American is entitled to no relief under any set of facts that could be proved in support of its claims. The Quintairos Firm's argument for dismissal is that each of the theories pleaded by Great American amounts to a claim for legal malpractice. While Quintairos avers that privity is a necessary element of a claim for legal malpractice, the Mississippi Legislature abolished the requirement of privity for all causes of action for personal injury or property damage or economic loss brought on account of negligence.

3.6 This Court has repeatedly made clear that professional liability extends to foresceable third parties who detrimentally rely on the services of a professional. There is no question but that Great American was a foreseeable third-party detrimentally relying on the Quintairos Firm's professional due diligence in handling the underlying cases. Furthermore, as the real party in interest, Great American is entitled to bring suit. Where an insurance carrier pays a judgment pursuant to a policy issued to an insured tortfeasor, the carrier is the real party in interest in a subsequent legal action brought against the insured's representation to recover damages lost as a result of malpractice. Taking the facts alleged by Great American as true, the Amended Complaint states several viable causes of action against the Quintairos Firm.

IV. ARGUMENT

4.1 Great American has properly stated several viable theories of recovery against the Quintairos Firm including claims for legal malpractice, negligence, gross negligence, negligent misrepresentation, and negligent supervision. In addition, Great American possesses—and has stated in its Amended Complaint—an equitable right of subrogation against the Quintairos Firm. The equitable subrogation claim is viable because Great American has satisfied the damages caused by the Quintairos Firm's recklessness. Accordingly, this Court should vacate the lower

court's 12(b)(6) dismissal of the Quintairos Firm from this lawsuit and remand the case for further proceedings.

A. Standard on Appeal

4.2 "A motion to dismiss under Miss. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6) raises an issue of law. This Court conducts *de novo* review on questions of law." <u>T.M. v. Noblitt</u>, 650 So. 2d 1340, 1342 (Miss. 1995) (internal citations omitted); <u>see also Penn. Nat'l Gaming, Inc. v. Ratliff</u>, 954 So. 2d 427, 430 (Miss. 2007) ("This Court reviews de novo a trial court's grant or denial of a motion to dismiss."). "When considering a motion to dismiss, the allegations in the complaint must be taken as true, and the motion should not be granted unless it appears beyond doubt that the plaintiff will be unable to prove any set of facts in support of his claim." <u>Sennett v. U.S. Fidelity</u> and Guar. Co., 757 So. 2d 206, 209 (Miss. 2000) (citing <u>Butler v. Board of Supervisors</u>, 659 So. 2d 578, 581 (Miss. 1995)). Put differently, "there must appear to a certainty that the plaintiff is entitled to no relief under any set of facts that could be proved in support of the claim." <u>Franklin</u> <u>County Co-op. v. MFC Services (A.A.L.)</u>, 441 So. 2d 1376, 1377 (Miss. 1983) (quoting the comment to <u>Miss. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6)</u>). Unless Great American faces an "insuperable bar" to its claims for relief, the lower court's dismissal should be overturned. 5A Wright & Miller, <u>Federal</u> Practice and Procedure (2d ed.), Civil § 1357 (1990 & Supp. 2000).

B. Great American Can Maintain an Action Against the Quintairos Firm Regardless of Whether an Attorney-Client Relationship Existed Between the Parties: Great American Was a Foreseeable Third-Party Detrimentally Relying on the Written Representations Sent to Great American by the Quintairos Firm

4.3 Great American has asserted claims against the Quintairos Firm under several theories including legal malpractice, negligence, gross negligence, negligent misrepresentation, and negligent supervision. The Quintairos Firm contends that, to a certainty, Great American is entitled to no relief under any set of facts that could be proved in support of its claims. The Quintairos Firm's argument for dismissal is that each of the theories pleaded by Great American

amounts to a claim for legal malpractice. Quintairos avers that privity is a necessary element of a claim for legal malpractice. Yet the Mississippi Legislature abolished the requirement of privity for "for all causes of action for personal injury or property damage or economic loss brought on account of negligence." Miss. Code Ann. § 11-7-20. In Century 21 Deep South Properties, LTD, v. Courson, this Court applied Miss, Code Ann. § 11-7-20 to a claim for legal malpractice, holding that where a direct attorney-client relationship was required prior to its enactment, the privity requirement no longer exists. 612 So. 2d 359 (Miss. 1992). The Century 21 Court instructed that "the presence or absence of an attorney-client relationship is merely one factor to consider in determining the duty owed rather than being the single factor which establishes that a duty is owed." Id. Instead, the more appropriate question "to whom is a duty owed?' takes center stage." Id. As it relates to this case, Great American has clearly stated a claim against the Quintairos Firm and is not precluded from pleading claims for legal malpractice, negligence, gross negligence and negligent misrepresentation to claims of an excess carrier against counsel hired by the primary carrier. Taking the facts alleged by Great American as true, the Amended Complaint states several viable causes of action against the Quintairos Firm.

1. <u>Great American was a foreseeable third-party detrimentally relying on</u> the due diligence of the Quintairos Firm.

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