IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

GREAT AMERICAN E&S INSURANCE COMPANY

APPELLANTS

VS.

NO. 2009-CA-01063

ROYAL INDEMNITY COMPANY, individually, and in its capacity as successor in interest to ROYAL INSURANCE COMPANY OF AMERICA, QUINTAIROS, PRIETO, WOOD & BOYER, P.A. and JOHN DOES 1-25

APPELLEES

BRIEF OF QUINTAIROS, PRIETO, WOOD & BOYER, P.A. APPELLEES ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

David A. Barfield (MBA)
Steven L. Lacey (MBN)
BARFIELD & ASSOCIATES
Attorneys at Law, P.A.
121 Village Blvd. (39110)
P.O. Box 2749
Madison, MS 39130-2749
Telephone: (601) 856-6411

Telephone: (601) 856-6411 Facsimile: (601) 856-6441

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEES

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES
STATEMENT OF THE CASE
STATEMENT OF THE FACTS5
SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT
ARGUMENT
CONCLUSION
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

<u>Page(s)</u>
Allianz Underwriters Ins. Co. v. Landmark Ins. Co., 13 A.D.3d 172, 787 N.Y.S.2d 15 (2004)
American Centennial Ins. Co. v. Canal Ins. Co., 843 S.W.2d 480 (Tex. 1992)
American Continental Insurance Co. v. Weber & Rose, P.S.C., 997 S.W.2d 12 (Ky. App. 1998)
Atlanta International Ins. Co. v. Bell, 475 N.W.2d 294 (Mich 1991)
Baker Donelson Bearman & Caldwell, P. C. v. Muirhead, 920 So2d. 440, 449 (Miss. 2006)
Blanton v. Prins, 938 So.2d 847, 851 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005)
Byrd v. Bowie, 933 So.2d 899, 904 (Miss. 2006)
Century 21 Deep South Properties, Ltd. v. Corson, 612 So.2d 359 (Miss. 1992) 7, 9, 10
Continental Casualty Co. v. Pullman, Comley, Bradley & Reeves, 929 F.2d 103, 107-08 (2d Cir. 1991)
Essex Insurance Co. v Tyler, 309 F.Supp.2d 1270 (D. Colo. 2004)
Fireman's Fund Insurance Co. v McDonald, Hecht & Solberg, 36 Cal. Rptr. 2d 424, 430 (Cal. App. 4 th Dist. 1994)
Flowers v. State, 601 So.2d 828 (Miss. 1992)
Fry v. Layton, 191 Miss. 17, 2 So.2d 561, 565 (Miss. 1941)
Glover v. Southard, 894 P.2d 21, 23 (Colo. App. 1994)
Great American Insurance Co. v. Dover & Dixon, P.A., 402 F.Supp.2d 1012 (E. D. Ark. 2005) 12, 13
Great American Insurance Co. v Dover, Dixon Horne, P.L.L.C., 456 F.3d 909 (8th Cir. 2006)

Hastings v. Guillott, 825 So.2d 20 (Miss. 2002), Parmley v. 84 Lumber Co., 2005WL1021631 (Miss.App. 2005)
Ladner v. Logan, 857 So.2d 764, 772 (Miss. 2003)
Lancaster v. Stevens, 961 So.2d 768, 771 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007)
Lyndon Property Insurance Co. v. Duke Levy & Associates, LLC, 475 F.3d 268, 270 (5th Cir. 2007)
Moeller v. American Guar. and Liability Ins. Co., 707 So.2d 1062, 1070 (Miss. 1996)
McBride v. Chevron U.S.A., 673 So. 2d 372, 379 (Miss. 1996)
Mozzochi v. Beck, 204 Conn. 490, 501, 529 A.2d 171, 176 (1987)
National Union Fire Insurance Co. v. Salter, 717 So.2d 141 (Fla. App. 1998) 16, 17, 24
National Union Ins. Co. v. Dowd & Dowd, P.C., 2 F.Supp.2d 1013 (N.D. Ill. 1998)
National Surety Corp. v. Hartford Casualty Insurance Co., 493 F.3d 752, 758-59 (6th Cir. 2007)
Parmley v. 84 Lumber Co., 2005WL1021631 (Miss.App. 2005)
Querrey & Harrow, Ltd. v. Transcontinental Insurance Co., 861 N.E.2d 719 (Ind. App. 2007)
Querrey & Harrow, Ltd. v. Transcontinental Insurance Co., 885 N.E.2d 1235 (Ind. 2008) 19
Roberts v Holland & Hart, 857 P.2d 492, 495 (Colo. App. 1993)
Singleton v. Segall, 580 So.2d 1242, 1244 (Miss. 1991)
State Farm Fire and Casualty Company v. Robert G. Weiss, Esq., 194 P.3d 1067 (Colo. App. 2008)
Swiss Reinsurance America Corporation, Inc. v. Roetzel & Andress, 163 Ohio App.3d 336, 837 N.E.2d 1215 (Ohio App. 2005)
United States v. Zolin, 491 U.S. 554, 562, 109 S.Ct. 2619, 105 L.Ed.2d 469 (1989)

Wilbourn v. Stennett, Wilkinson & Ward, 687 So.2d 1205, 1215 (Miss. 1996)
STATUTES
Miss. Code Ann. § 11-7-20
Miss. Code Ann. § 11-7-3
Miss. Code Ann. § 11-7-7
Arkansas Statute § 16-22-310
RULES
Mississippi Rules of Appellate Procedure, Rule 28(b)
SECONDARY SOURCES
Assignability of claim for legal malpractice, 40 A.L.R.4th 684 (1985)

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

Appellee, Quintairos Prieto Wood & Boyer P.A., believes this case warrants oral argument.

Crucial questions are presented involving an issue of first impression that will have a direct impact on the preservation of the attorney client relationship/privilege under Mississippi jurisprudence.

Because the legal issues at stake are so important, oral argument should be granted.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

Because no attorney-client relationship existed between Great American E&S Insurance Company ("Great American") and Quintairos Prieto Wood & Boyer P.A., ("Quintairos"), Great American's claim for legal malpractice was properly dismissed by the Circuit Court. Pursuant to Rule 28(b) Mississippi Rules of Appellate Procedure, Quintairos, is dissatisfied with the Statement of the Issues as set forth by Great American in its Brief, and would urge the Court to consider the following as a proper statement of the issue:

The issue is, can a lawyer or law firm, hired by a primary insurance carrier to defend an insured (the lawyer's client) be sued for legal malpractice by an excess insurance carrier who did not hire the lawyer. The issue before this Court is one of first impression and will require the Court to establish public policy of the State of Mississippi. The Court's decision will have a direct impact on the preservation of the attorney client relationship/privilege under Mississippi jurisprudence. At this stage of the proceeding, the issue before the Court is not whether Quintairos committed legal malpractice.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Great American has made claims against Quintairos and seeks to recover under several legal theories, including equitable subrogation, legal malpractice, and negligence. The factual basis for all of Great American's claims against Quintairos is, however, the same: the alleged failure of Quintairos to properly defend the underlying lawsuits. Thus, Great American is actually pursuing only a claim for legal malpractice against Quintairos, under several theories and based on separate aspects of events that occurred in the defense of the underlying cases.

In Count I of its Amended Complaint ("Equitable Subrogation"), Great American alleges that, as a result of the actions of Quintairos "in the handling of the defense of the referenced cases¹," the insured suffered a loss² in excess of the Underlying Policy on each of the four cases. (R. p. 57 at ¶ 4.2). Great American further alleges that "the insured" has a cause of action against the Defendants which the insured could have asserted on its own behalf, "had the insured not been indemnified by Great American." (R. p. 58 at ¶ 4.4). Great American now seeks to recover "the indemnified damages sustained by the insureds" and other damages that it suffered as a result of Quintairos's actions in handling the underlying suits. (R. p. 58 at ¶ 4.4, 4.5).

In Count II, Great American alleges that Quintairos "failed to exercise the degree of care, skill, knowledge and ability ordinarily possessed by members of the legal profession in its

¹ The referenced cases made a part of the Amended Complaint were all filed against various nursing homes, or assisted living facilities in the Circuit Court of Warren County, Mississippi and styled as follows: (1) The Estate of Huldah Chase, et al. v. International Healthcare, et al., Civil Action Number 02-0133CI; (2) Alma Taylor, et al. v. Vicksburg Convalescent Home, et al., Civil Action No. 02-0214 CI; (3) The Estate of Nancy Jones and Brenda Jones, et al. v. International Health Care Properties 61, L.P., Civil Action No. 02-0197 CI; (4) Hilliard Berry, Sr., et al. v. International Health Care Properties 61, L.P., Civil Action No. 02-0197 CI. (R. E. 4, Amended Complaint at pp. 52 & 56-7).

² Actually, there was no loss suffered by the insured, the underlying cases were all voluntarily settled by the primary and excess carriers.

performance of work in the *Chase, Norris, Berry* and *Jones* cases," and that its failure to do so was a proximate cause or proximate contributing cause of the damages suffered by Great American. (R. p. 58 at ¶¶ 4.7, 4.8). Similarly, in Count III ("Negligence"), Great American alleges that "Defendants" had a duty to maintain an adequate defense for the insureds and the Plaintiff in the underlying actions, that the "Defendants" breached that duty, and that their negligence was the sole proximate cause or proximate contributing cause of Great American's damages. (R. p. 59 at ¶¶ 4.10-4.12). Count III is clearly duplicative of Count II. Great American alleges that Quintairos "had a duty to maintain an adequate defense for the insureds and the Plaintiff in the underlying actions," and that Quintairos breached that duty by failing to exercise the degree of care, skill, knowledge and ability ordinarily possessed by attorneys " (R. p. 59 at ¶¶ 4.10, 4.11).

Further, Count IV ("Gross Negligence") merely adds that the Defendants' actions "constituted gross careless and reckless acts tantamount to intentional disregard for the rights of the insureds and Plaintiff." (¶R. p. 59 at 4.14). The alleged wrongful conduct by Quintairos could only have occurred in the course of its legal representation of the insured in the underlying cases, and, thus, Count IV is a further embellishment of Great American's claim for legal malpractice. Count V is only directed at Co-Defendants, not Quintairos.

In Count VI ("Negligent Misrepresentation"), Great American alleges that the Defendants, or their employees/agents, "made misrepresentations or material omissions to the Plaintiff regarding the referenced cases" and "failed to adequately and timely advise the Plaintiff of the status of the litigation in the referenced cases." (R. p. 60 at ¶¶ 4.21, 4.22). These allegations clearly demonstrate that the alleged wrongful conduct by Quintairos occurred in the course of its representation of the insureds in those cases. Thus, Count VI is a further description of Great American's claim for legal malpractice.

In Count VII ("Negligent Supervision"), Great American alleges that Quintairos has a duty to exercise due care in supervising its employees, and that it breached that duty by negligently supervising its employees. (R. p. 60 at ¶¶ 4.29, 4.30). The alleged negligent supervision could have occurred only in the course of Quintairos's representation of the insureds in the underlying cases. Thus, Count VII is merely a further description of Great American's claim for legal malpractice.

Great American has sued Quintairos to recover amounts that it paid as the excess insurance carrier to settle the four cases (which Great American describes as "compensatory damages"), and other damages, including cost of defense of the underlying suits, punitive damages, attorneys' fees and litigation costs for having to bring this suit, pre-judgment interest, post-judgment interest, and any other damages that it is entitled to recover. (R. p. 61 at ¶ 5.1).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The Quintairos law firm was retained by Royal, the primary insurance carrier, to represent its insureds (certain residential care facilities) in the four cases named in the Amended Complaint (*Chase, Norris, Berry*, and *Jones*). (R. pp. 53, 56 at ¶¶ 3.3, 3.17). Great American was the excess insurance carrier for these residential care facilities. All four cases were ultimately settled. Royal paid the limit of its primary insurance coverage in each case, and Great American contributed to the settlements under its excess insurance coverage. (R. pp. 56, 57 at ¶¶ 3.16-3.18).

Great American does not even allege that it was the client of Quintairos in the underlying cases. Great American requested and was provided evaluations and assessments of the *Chase* claim by defense counsel (both the law firm that was originally retained to defend the insureds and Quintairos, which was retained in November 2003). (R. pp. 53-55 at ¶¶ 3.5, 3.6, 3.9, 3.14). In March 2004, upon learning that its excess policy might be implicated, Great American "immediately retained counsel to protect its interests in the [*Chase*] suit." (R. p. 55 at ¶ 3.14).

No claim has been made against Quintairos by the defendants that it represented in the underlying cases (its clients) and no claim has been made against Quintairos by Royal (the insurance carrier that hired Quintairos). The Amended Complaint includes no allegation that the insured defendants in the underlying cases have assigned any legal malpractice claims³ against Quintairos to Great American or that Quintairos's clients have otherwise consented to or approved the filing and prosecution of such claims against their attorneys.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Great American's pursuit of legal malpractice claims under an equitable subrogation theory should be rejected. Mississippi has not yet considered whether an excess insurer can pursue legal malpractice claims against a lawyer who was hired by the primary carrier to represent the insured in the underlying case under an equitable subrogation theory. However, a majority of courts in other jurisdictions that have considered this question have refused to allow such claims, and Mississippi should do likewise.

The legal question presented by the present appeal is whether, under Mississippi law, an excess insurance carrier can pursue legal malpractice claims against attorneys retained by the primary insurance carrier to represent the insured. Mississippi decisions are very clear that a requisite element of a claim for legal malpractice is the existence of an attorney-client relationship. That element is not only not satisfied in this case, it is not even alleged to exist and Great American's claims for legal malpractice were therefore properly dismissed.

³ Even if there were an allegation of such assignment it would likely not be valid. Although Mississippi has not decided the issue, other states have and the majority prohibit assignment of legal malpractice actions. Assignability of claim for legal malpractice, 40 A.L.R.4th 684 (1985). (Reporting sixteen states do not allow such assignment and only three states do.)

ARGUMENT

A. A Lawyer-Client Relationship Is an Essential Element of a Legal Malpractice Claim

In order to prevail in an action for legal malpractice or any cause of action stemming from the attorney-client relationship, Plaintiff must show the existence of a duty owed to the Plaintiff by the Defendant. Wilbourn v. Stennett, Wilkinson & Ward, 687 So.2d 1205, 1215 (Miss. 1996). This duty arises from the attorney-client relationship. Singleton v. Segall, 580 So.2d 1242, 1244 (Miss. 1991). In the absence of an attorney-client relationship, however, there can be no duty that can give rise to an action for legal malpractice, breach of fiduciary duty or similar torts. Id. As this Court has aptly stated: "The first step is finding that a lawyer-client relationship has come into being." Id. Importantly, Great American does not even allege an attorney-client relationship with Quintairos in the underlying cases giving rise to a duty. Where there is no duty, there can be no breach of that duty.

Great American, however, relying upon Miss. Code Ann. § 11-7-20 and Century 21 Deep South Properties, Ltd. v. Corson, 612 So.2d 359 (Miss. 1992) asserts that a lawyer-client relationship is no longer one of the elements of a claim for legal malpractice. (Appellant's Brief at pp.10-14). This assertion is demonstrably incorrect. The effective date of § 11-7-20, which abolished the requirement of privity in negligence and other cases, was 1976. Century 21 was decided by this Court in 1992. However, post § 11-7-20 enactment and post - Century 21 decisions of this Court and the Mississippi Court of Appeals have consistently held that one of the elements of a claim for legal malpractice is the existence of a lawyer-client relationship. E.g., Byrdv. Bowie, 933 So.2d 899, 904 (Miss. 2006); Baker Donelson Bearman & Caldwell, P. C. v. Muirhead, 920 So2d. 440, 449 (Miss. 2006); Wilbourn v. Stennett, Wilkinson & Ward, 687 So.2d 1205, 1215 (Miss. 1996); Lancaster v. Stevens, 961 So.2d 768, 771 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007); Blanton v. Prins, 938 So.2d 847,

851 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005). Great American does not even allege in its Amended Complaint that a lawyer-client relationship existed between it and Quintairos. Indeed, the detailed statement of facts set forth in the Amended Complaint (Section III) recites that "the Royal Defendants hired defense counsel to defend the insureds."(R. p. 53 ¶ 3.4).

Further, according to the Amended Complaint, the Royal Defendants reassigned the defense of the *Chase* case to Quintairos in November 2003. (R. p. 54 ¶ 3.6). Great American recites many facts about the procedural history of the *Chase* case, but again, it never alleges that it had a lawyer-client relationship with Quintairos at any relevant time. In fact, Great American alleges that, upon learning that its Excess Policy might be implicated, it "immediately retained counsel to protect its interests...." (R. p. 55 ¶ 3.14).

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